
Any person who requires accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact the District office at (909) 797-5117, at least 
48 hours prior to the meeting to request a disability-related modification or accommodation. 
 
Materials that are provided to the Board of Directors after the meeting packet is compiled and distributed will be made available 
for public review during normal business hours at the District office located at 12770 Second Street, Yucaipa.  Meeting materials 
are also available on the District’s website at www.yvwd.dst.ca.us 
 

 
 

12770 Second Street, Yucaipa, California 92399 Phone: (909) 797-5117 
 

 

Notice and Agenda of a Regular Meeting  
of the Board of Directors 

Tuesday, March 7, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. 
 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER - Pledge of Allegiance 

II. ROLL CALL 

III. PUBLIC COMMENTS - At this time, members of the public may address the Board of Directors on matters 

within its jurisdiction.  To provide comments on specific agenda items, please complete a speaker’s request 
form and provide the completed form to the Board Secretary prior to the board meeting. 

IV. CONSENT CALENDAR - All consent calendar matters are routine and will be acted upon in one motion.  

There will be no discussion of these items unless board members, administrative staff, or members of the 
public request specific items to be discussed and/or removed prior to the vote for approval.   

A. Minutes of Meetings 

1. Regular Board Meeting - February 7, 2017 

2. Board Workshop - February 14, 2017 

3. Board Workshop - February 28, 2017 

V. STAFF REPORT 

VI. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. Presentation of the Unaudited Financial Report for the Period Ending on January 31, 2017 
[Director Memorandum No. 17-020 - Page 38 of 105] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board receives and files the unaudited 
financial report. 

B. Consideration to Purchase Additional Imported Water from the San Bernardino Valley 
Municipal Water District for Calendar Year 2017 [Director Memorandum No. 17-021 - Page 
66 of 105] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board authorizes the purchase of an 
additional 1,000 acre feet of imported water for use at the Yucaipa Valley Regional 
Water Filtration Facility plus 6,000 acre feet of imported water for recharge at the 
Wilson Creek Spreading Basins for a sum not to exceed $836,200. 

  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 1 of 105

http://www.yvwd.dst.ca.us/


 
Page 2 

C. Consideration of Resolution No. 2017-08 Establishing the Use of Fire Hydrants for 
Temporary Construction, Agricultural, and Residential Water Use [Director Memorandum 
No. 17-022 - Page 69 of 105] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board adopts Resolution No. 2017-08. 

D. Consideration of Adopting a Cellular Device Usage Program [Director Memorandum No. 
17-022 - Page 74 of 105] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  That the Board authorizes the General Manager to 
implement the Cellular Device Usage Program for District employees when data 
collection and communication programs are implemented. 

E. Discussion Regarding the Water Rights, Water Supply, and Facility Capacity Fee Collection 
Agreement between the City of Calimesa, San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency and Yucaipa 
Valley Water District [Director Memorandum No. 17-022 - Page 76 of 105] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Pending 

VII. BOARD REPORTS & DIRECTOR COMMENTS 

VIII. ANNOUNCEMENTS  

A. March 14, 2017 at 4:00 p.m. - Board Workshop 

B. March 21, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. - Regular Board Meeting 

C. March 28, 2017 at 4:00 p.m. - Board Workshop 

D. April 4, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. - Regular Board Meeting 

E. April 11, 2017 at 4:00 p.m. - Board Workshop 

F. April 18, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. - Regular Board Meeting 

G. April 25, 2017 at 4:00 p.m. - Board Workshop 

H. May 2, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. - Regular Board Meeting 

IX. CLOSED SESSION 

A. Conference with Real Property Negotiator(s) 
Property: Assessor’s Parcel Number(s): 0321-261-15 and 0321-261-17 
Agency Negotiator:  Joseph Zoba, General Manager 
Negotiating Parties:  Dawn Campbell  
Under Negotiation: Terms of Payment and Price 

B. Conference with Real Property Negotiator(s) 
Property: Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 301-201-20, 27 and 28 
Agency Negotiator:  Joseph Zoba, General Manager 
Negotiating Parties:  Abraham and Nabil Issa  
Under Negotiation: Terms of Payment and Price 

C. Conference with Legal Counsel 
Anticipated Litigation--One Potential Case Against the District (Government Code, Section 
54956.9(d)) 

D. Conference with Labor Negotiator (Government Code 54957.6) 
Unrepresented Employee: Joseph Zoba, General Manager 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 2 of 105



 

Consent Calendar 

 
Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 3 of 105



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The board meeting minutes from February 7, 2017, will be distributed  

prior to the board meeting for review and approval. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 4 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - Board Workshop Minutes Page 1 of 2 

MINUTES OF A BOARD WORKSHOP 
 

February 14, 2017 at 4:00 P.M. 
 
 
Directors Present: Staff Present: 
 Jay Bogh, President  

Bruce Granlund, Vice President  
Lonni Granlund, Director  
Chris Mann, Director 
Tom Shalhoub, Director 

Joseph Zoba, General Manager 
John Hull, Public Works Manager 
Mike Kostelecky, Operations Manager 
Matthew Porras, Management Analyst 
Kathryn Hallberg, Management Analyst    

 
Directors Absent: Consulting Staff Present: 
 None. David Wysocki, Legal Counsel 
 
Guests and Others Present: 
 Jeff Hewitt, City of Calimesa 

Bill Davis, City of Calimesa 
Mike Thornton, City of Calimesa 
Linda Shelton, Customer 
Kathy Raybould, Customer 
Cheryl Thompson, Argent Management LLC 
Mike Turner, Argent Management LLC 
John Ohanian, Terra Verde Group LLC 

 

I. Call to Order - 4:00 p.m. 

II. Public Comments - No comments were provided by individuals in the audience: 

III. Staff Report -  General Manager Joseph Zoba discussed the following topics: 

• A recent article regarding the State of Arizona considering Direct Potable Reuse (DPR) 
for a solution to water supply challenges. 

• A recent article discussing the new position of the San Diego County Water Authority 
relating to the State of California’s proposed underground water tunnel project. 

• The District’s current State Water Project allocation is at 60 percent. 

IV. Presentations 

A. Overview of the California Drought and Yucaipa Valley Water District’s Action Plan 
Related to the State Water Resources Control Board Water Conservation 
Restrictions [Workshop Memorandum No. 17-016] General Manager Joseph Zoba 
provided an overview of the California Drought and Yucaipa Valley Water District’s 
Action Plan related to the State Water Resources Control Board Water 
conservation restrictions. 

B. Overview of the Draft Water Rights, Water Supply, and Facility Capacity Fee 
Collection Agreement between the City of Calimesa, San Gorgonio Pass Water 
Agency and Yucaipa Valley Water District [Workshop Memorandum No. 17-017] 
General Manager Joseph Zoba provided an overview of the Draft Water Rights, 
Water Supply, and Facility Capacity Fee Collection Agreement between the City 
of Calimesa, San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency and Yucaipa Valley Water 
District.  Contributions to the discussion with the Directors and District staff were 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 5 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - Board Workshop Minutes Page 2 of 2 

made by Jeff Hewitt, Bill Davis, Mike Thornton, Cheryl Thompson, Mike Turner 
and John Ohanian.  

V. Operational Updates  

A. Overview of New Data Collection Programs and Water System Outage Information 
[Workshop Memorandum No. 17-018] Management Analyst Matthew Porras 
provided an overview of the new data collection programs used by District staff.  
Management Analyst Kathryn Hallberg provided an overview of the new process 
of sharing water system outage information. 

VI. Administrative Items 

A. Overview of the Unaudited Financial Report for the Period Ending on January 31, 
2017 [Workshop Memorandum No. 17-019] General Manager Joseph Zoba 
provided an overview of the unaudited financial report for the period ending on 
January 31, 2017. 

VII. Director Comments  

A. None. 

VIII. Closed Session 

A. Conference with Real Property Negotiator(s) 
Property: Assessor’s Parcel Number(s): 0321-261-15 and 0321-261-17 
Agency Negotiator:  Joseph Zoba, General Manager 
Negotiating Parties:  Dawn Campbell  
Under Negotiation: Terms of Payment and Price 

B. Conference with Real Property Negotiator(s) 
Property: Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 301-201-20, 27 and 28 
Agency Negotiator:  Joseph Zoba, General Manager 
Negotiating Parties:  Abraham and Nabil Issa  
Under Negotiation: Terms of Payment and Price 

C. Conference with Legal Counsel 
Anticipated Litigation--One Potential Case Against the District (Government Code, 
Section 54956.9(d)) 

The Board Members reconvened from closed session into open session and Legal 
Counsel David Wysocki reported that direction was provided to the General Manager but 
no reportable action was taken in closed session. 

IX. Adjournment - The meeting was adjourned at 5:15 p.m.  

 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

              
        Joseph B. Zoba, Secretary 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 6 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - Board Workshop Minutes Page 1 of 3 

MINUTES OF A BOARD WORKSHOP 
 

February 28, 2017 at 4:00 P.M. 
 
 
Directors Present: Staff Present: 
 Jay Bogh, President  

Bruce Granlund, Vice President  
Lonni Granlund, Director  
Chris Mann, Director 
Tom Shalhoub, Director 

Joseph Zoba, General Manager 
Vicky Elisalda, Controller 
Ashley Gibson, Water Resource Project Supervisor 
Mike Kostelecky, Operations Manager 
Matthew Porras, Management Analyst 
Kathryn Hallberg, Management Analyst    
Sean Trost, Utility Service Worker 
Kyle Westerlin, Utility Service Worker 
Brain Bandy, Integrated Operator 
Christopher Crosby, Integrated Operator 
Dale Fundak, Integrated Operator 
Mathew Hendrickson, Integrated Operator 
Sean Ferris, Integrated Operator 

 
Directors Absent: Consulting Staff Present: 
 None. David Wysocki, Legal Counsel 
 
Guests and Others Present: 
 Bonnie Johnson, City of Calimesa 

Jeff Hewitt, City of Calimesa 
Steve Copland, San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District 
Linda Shelton, Customer 
Kathy Raybould, Customer 
Al Ineichen, Customer 
David Bucannon, Customer 
Mike Turner, Argent Management LLC 
Cheryl Thompson, Argent Management LLC 

 

I. Call to Order - 4:00 p.m. 

II. Public Comments - No comments were provided by individuals in the audience: 

III. Consent Calendar - Payment of Bills 

1. Approve/Ratify Invoices for Board Awarded Contracts 

2. Ratify General Expenses for January 2017 

Director Lonni Granlund moved and Director Bruce Granlund seconded a motion to 
approve the consent calendar.  The motion was approved by the following vote: 

Director Jay Bogh - Absent at the time the vote was taken  
Director Bruce Granlund - Yes 
Director Lonni Granlund - Yes 
Director Chris Mann - Yes 
Director Tom Shalhoub - Yes  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 7 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - Board Workshop Minutes Page 2 of 3 

IV. Staff Report -  General Manager Joseph Zoba discussed the following topics: 

• The District’s current State Water Project allocation is at 60 percent. 

V. Presentations 

A. Overview of the California Drought and Yucaipa Valley Water District’s Action Plan 
Related to the State Water Resources Control Board Water Conservation 
Restrictions [Workshop Memorandum No. 17-020] - General Manager Joseph 
Zoba provided an overview of the California Drought and Yucaipa Valley Water 
District’s Action Plan related to the State Water Resources Control Board Water 
conservation restrictions. 

B. Overview of the Draft Water Rights, Water Supply, and Facility Capacity Fee 
Collection Agreement between the City of Calimesa, San Gorgonio Pass Water 
Agency and Yucaipa Valley Water District [Workshop Memorandum No. 17-021] - 
General Manager Joseph Zoba provided an overview of the draft water rights, water 
supply, and facility capacity fee collection agreement between the City of Calimesa, 
San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency and Yucaipa Valley Water District.  Additional 
comments were contributed by the board members, Bonnie Johnson, Mike Turner, 
and District staff. 

VI. Operational Updates  

A. Consideration to Purchase Additional Imported Water Supplies from the San 
Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District for Calendar Year 2017 [Workshop 
Memorandum No. 17-022] - General Manager Joseph Zoba discussed the 
consideration to purchase additional imported water supplies from the San 
Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District for calendar year 2017. 

VII. Policy Issues 

A. Overview of Resolution No. 2017-xx Regarding the Use of Construction, 
Agricultural, and Residential Hydrant Water Meters [Workshop Memorandum No. 
17-023] - Management Analyst Kathryn Hallberg provided an overview of a 
resolution regarding the use of construction, agricultural, and residential hydrant 
water meters. 

VIII. Administrative Items 

A. Implementation of a Cellular Device Usage Program [Workshop Memorandum No. 
17-024] - -Management Analyst Matthew Porras discussed the implementation of 
a cellular device usage program. 

B. Proposed Modification to District Payroll Cycle to be from Sunday through 
Saturday [Workshop Memorandum No. 17-025] - General Manager Joseph Zoba 
proposed a modification to District payroll cycle.  Additional discussion was 
contributed to this item from the board members, Dale Fundak, Christopher Crosby 
and District staff.   

IX. Director Comments  

A. Director Tom Shalhoub commented on the well attended the meeting. 

X. Adjournment - The meeting was adjourned at 4:48 p.m. 

 
  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 8 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - Board Workshop Minutes Page 3 of 3 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

              
        Joseph B. Zoba, Secretary 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 9 of 105



 

Staff Report 

 
Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 10 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 11 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 12 of 105



 

1 

Filed 3/2/17 

 

 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 

 

CITY OF SAN JOSE et al., ) 

  ) 

 Petitioners, ) 

  ) S218066 

 v. ) 

  ) Ct.App. 6 H039498 

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA, )  Santa Clara County 

CLARA COUNTY,   )  Super. Ct. No. 109CV150427 

 Respondent; ) 

  ) 

TED SMITH, ) 

  ) 

 Real Party in Interest. ) 

  ) 

 ____________________________________) 

 

 

 Here, we hold that when a city employee uses a personal account to 

communicate about the conduct of public business, the writings may be subject to 

disclosure under the California Public Records Act (CPRA or Act).1  We overturn 

the contrary judgment of the Court of Appeal. 

I.  BACKGROUND 

 In June 2009, petitioner Ted Smith requested disclosure of 32 categories of 

public records from the City of San Jose, its redevelopment agency and the 

agency‟s executive director, along with certain other elected officials and their 

                                              
1  Government Code section 6250 et seq.  All statutory references are to the 

Government Code unless otherwise specified. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 13 of 105



 

2 

staffs.2  The targeted documents concerned redevelopment efforts in downtown 

San Jose and included emails and text messages “sent or received on private 

electronic devices used by” the mayor, two city council members, and their staffs.  

The City disclosed communications made using City telephone numbers and email 

accounts but did not disclose communications made using the individuals‟ 

personal accounts.  

 Smith sued for declaratory relief, arguing CPRA‟s definition of “public 

records” encompasses all communications about official business, regardless of 

how they are created, communicated, or stored.  The City responded that messages 

communicated through personal accounts are not public records because they are 

not within the public entity‟s custody or control.  The trial court granted summary 

judgment for Smith and ordered disclosure, but the Court of Appeal issued a writ 

of mandate.  At present, no documents from employees‟ personal accounts have 

been collected or disclosed. 

II.  DISCUSSION 

 This case concerns how laws, originally designed to cover paper 

documents, apply to evolving methods of electronic communication.  It requires 

recognition that, in today‟s environment, not all employment-related activity 

occurs during a conventional workday, or in an employer-maintained workplace. 

 Enacted in 1968, CPRA declares that “access to information concerning the 

conduct of the people‟s business is a fundamental and necessary right of every 

person in this state.”  (§ 6250.)  In 2004, voters made this principle part of our 

Constitution.  A provision added by Proposition 59 states:  “The people have the 

right of access to information concerning the conduct of the people‟s business, 

and, therefore, . . . the writings of public officials and agencies shall be open to 

public scrutiny.”  (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(1).)  Public access laws serve a 

                                              
2  These parties, sued as defendants below and the petitioners here, are 

collectively referred to as the “City.” 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 14 of 105



 

3 

crucial function.  “Openness in government is essential to the functioning of a 

democracy.  „Implicit in the democratic process is the notion that government 

should be accountable for its actions.  In order to verify accountability, individuals 

must have access to government files.  Such access permits checks against the 

arbitrary exercise of official power and secrecy in the political process.‟ ”  

(International Federation of Professional and Technical Engineers, Local 21, 

AFL-CIO v. Superior Court (2007) 42 Cal.4th 319, 328-329 (International 

Federation).) 

 However, public access to information must sometimes yield to personal 

privacy interests.  When enacting CPRA, the Legislature was mindful of the right 

to privacy (§ 6250), and set out multiple exemptions designed to protect that right.  

(Commission on Peace Officer Standards & Training v. Superior Court (2007) 42 

Cal.4th 278, 288 (Commission on Peace Officer Standards); see § 6254.)  

Similarly, while the Constitution provides for public access, it does not supersede 

or modify existing privacy rights.  (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(3).) 

 CPRA and the Constitution strike a careful balance between public access 

and personal privacy.  This case concerns how that balance is served when 

documents concerning official business are created or stored outside the 

workplace.  The issue is a narrow one:  Are writings concerning the conduct of 

public business beyond CPRA‟s reach merely because they were sent or received 

using a nongovernmental account?  Considering the statute‟s language and the 

important policy interests it serves, the answer is no.  Employees‟ communications 

about official agency business may be subject to CPRA regardless of the type of 

account used in their preparation or transmission. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 15 of 105



 

4 

A. Statutory Language, Broadly Construed, Supports Public Access 

 CPRA establishes a basic rule requiring disclosure of public records upon 

request.  (§ 6253.)3  In general, it creates “a presumptive right of access to any 

record created or maintained by a public agency that relates in any way to the 

business of the public agency.”  (Sander v. State Bar of California (2013) 58 

Cal.4th 300, 323, italics added.)  Every such record “must be disclosed unless a 

statutory exception is shown.”  (Ibid.)  Section 6254 sets out a variety of 

exemptions, “many of which are designed to protect individual privacy.”  

(International Federation, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 329.)  The Act also includes a 

catchall provision exempting disclosure if “the public interest served by not 

disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure.”  

(§ 6255, subd. (a).) 

 “When we interpret a statute, „[o]ur fundamental task . . . is to determine 

the Legislature‟s intent so as to effectuate the law‟s purpose.  We first examine the 

statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning.  We do not 

examine that language in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as 

a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various 

parts of the enactment.  If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its 

plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences 

the Legislature did not intend.  If the statutory language permits more than one 

reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute‟s 

purpose, legislative history, and public policy.‟  [Citation.]  „Furthermore, we 

consider portions of a statute in the context of the entire statute and the statutory 

scheme of which it is a part, giving significance to every word, phrase, sentence, 

and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose.‟ ”  (Sierra Club v. 

Superior Court (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157, 165-166.) 

                                              
3  CPRA was modeled on the federal Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) (5 

U.S.C. § 552).  (San Gabriel Tribune v. Superior Court (1983) 143 Cal.App.3d 

762, 772.) 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 16 of 105



 

5 

 In CPRA cases, this standard approach to statutory interpretation is 

augmented by a constitutional imperative.  (See Sierra Club v. Superior Court, 

supra, 57 Cal.4th at p. 166.)  Proposition 59 amended the Constitution to provide:  

“A statute, court rule, or other authority, including those in effect on the effective 

date of this subdivision, shall be broadly construed if it furthers the people‟s right 

of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access.”  (Cal. Const., 

art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2), italics added.)  “ „Given the strong public policy of the 

people‟s right to information concerning the people‟s business (Gov. Code, 

§ 6250), and the constitutional mandate to construe statutes limiting the right of 

access narrowly (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2)), “all public records are 

subject to disclosure unless the Legislature has expressly provided to the 

contrary.” ‟ ”  (Sierra Club, at p. 166.) 

 We begin with the term “public record,” which CPRA defines to include 

“any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public‟s 

business prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless 

of physical form or characteristics.”  (§ 6252, subd. (e); hereafter “public records” 

definition.)  Under this definition, a public record has four aspects.  It is (1) a 

writing, (2) with content relating to the conduct of the public‟s business, which is 

(3) prepared by, or (4) owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency. 

 1. Writing 

 CPRA defines a “writing” as “any handwriting, typewriting, printing, 

photostating, photographing, photocopying, transmitting by electronic mail or 

facsimile, and every other means of recording upon any tangible thing any form of 

communication or representation, including letters, words, pictures, sounds, or 

symbols, or combinations thereof, and any record thereby created, regardless of 

the manner in which the record has been stored.”  (§ 6252, subd. (g).)  It is 

undisputed that the items at issue here constitute writings. 

 In 1968, creating a “writing” could be a fairly involved process.  Typically, 

a person would use an implement to type, or record words longhand, or would 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 17 of 105



 

6 

dictate to someone else who would write or type a document.  Writings were 

generally made on paper or some other tangible medium.  These writings were 

physically identifiable and could be retrieved by examining the physical 

repositories where they were stored.  Writings exchanged with people outside the 

agency were generally sent, on paper, through the mail or by courier.  In part 

because of the time required for their preparation, such writings were fairly formal 

and focused on the business at hand. 

 Today, these tangible, if laborious, writing methods have been enhanced by 

electronic communication.  Email, text messaging, and other electronic platforms, 

permit writings to be prepared, exchanged, and stored more quickly and easily.  

However, the ease and immediacy of electronic communication has encouraged a 

commonplace tendency to share fleeting thoughts and random bits of information, 

with varying degrees of import, often to broad audiences.  As a result, the line 

between an official communication and an electronic aside is now sometimes 

blurred.  The second aspect of CPRA‟s “public records” definition establishes a 

framework to distinguish between work-related and purely private 

communications. 

 2. Relating to the Conduct of the Public’s Business 

 The overall structure of CPRA, with its many exemptions, makes clear that 

not everything written by a public employee is subject to review and disclosure.  

To qualify as a public record, a writing must “contain[] information relating to the 

conduct of the public‟s business.”  (§ 6252, subd. (e).)  Generally, any “record . . . 

kept by an officer because it is necessary or convenient to the discharge of his 

official duty . . . is a public record.”  (Braun v. City of Taft (1984) 154 Cal.App.3d 

332, 340; see People v. Purcell (1937) 22 Cal.App.2d 126, 130.) 

 Whether a writing is sufficiently related to public business will not always 

be clear.  For example, depending on the context, an email to a spouse 

complaining “my coworker is an idiot” would likely not be a public record.  

Conversely, an email to a superior reporting the coworker‟s mismanagement of an 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 18 of 105



 

7 

agency project might well be.  Resolution of the question, particularly when 

writings are kept in personal accounts, will often involve an examination of 

several factors, including the content itself; the context in, or purpose for which, it 

was written; the audience to whom it was directed; and whether the writing was 

prepared by an employee acting or purporting to act within the scope of his or her 

employment.  Here, the City claimed all communications in personal accounts are 

beyond the reach of CPRA.  As a result, the content of specific records is not 

before us.  Any disputes over this aspect of the “public records” definition await 

resolution in future proceedings. 

 We clarify, however, that to qualify as a public record under CPRA, at a 

minimum, a writing must relate in some substantive way to the conduct of the 

public‟s business.  This standard, though broad, is not so elastic as to include 

every piece of information the public may find interesting.  Communications that 

are primarily personal, containing no more than incidental mentions of agency 

business, generally will not constitute public records.  For example, the public 

might be titillated to learn that not all agency workers enjoy the company of their 

colleagues, or hold them in high regard.  However, an employee‟s electronic 

musings about a colleague‟s personal shortcomings will often fall far short of 

being a “writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public‟s 

business.”  (§ 6252, subd. (e).)4 

 Coronado Police Officers Assn. v. Carroll (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1001 

demonstrates the intricacy of determining whether a writing is related to public 

                                              
4  We recognize that this test departs from the notion that “[o]nly purely 

personal” communications “totally void of reference to governmental activities” 

are excluded from CPRA‟s definition of public records.  (Assem. Statewide 

Information Policy Com., Final Rep. (Mar. 1970) 1 Assem. J. (1970 Reg. Sess.) 

appen. p. 9; see San Gabriel Tribune v. Superior Court, supra, 143 Cal.App.3d at 

p. 774.)  While this conception may yield correct results in some circumstances, it 

may sweep too broadly in others, particularly when applied to electronic 

communications sent through personal accounts. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 19 of 105



 

8 

business.  There, police officers sought access to a database of impeachment 

material compiled by public defenders.  The attorneys contributed to the database 

and used its contents in their work.  (Id. at p. 1005.)  However, their representation 

of individual clients, though paid for by a public entity, was considered under case 

law to be essentially a private function.  (Id. at pp. 1007-1009; see Polk County v. 

Dodson (1981) 454 U.S. 312, 321-322.)  Accordingly, the Coronado court 

concluded the database did not relate to public business and thus was not a public 

record.  (Id. at pp. 1007-1009.)  The court was careful to note that not all 

documents related to the database were private, however.  Documents reflecting 

policy decisions about whether and how to maintain the database might well relate 

to public business, rather than the representation of individual clients.  (Id. at 

p. 1009.)  Content of that kind would constitute public records.  (Ibid.) 

 3. Prepared by Any State or Local Agency 

 The City focuses its challenge on the final portion of the “public records” 

definition, which requires that writings be “prepared, owned, used, or retained by 

any state or local agency.”  (§ 6252, section (e).)  The City argues this language 

does not encompass communications agency employees make through their 

personal accounts.  However, the broad construction mandated by the Constitution 

supports disclosure. 

 A writing is commonly understood to have been prepared by the person 

who wrote it.  If an agency employee prepares a writing that substantively relates 

to the conduct of public business, that writing would appear to satisfy the Act‟s 

definition of a public record.  The City urges a contrary conclusion when the 

writing is transmitted through a personal account.  In focusing its attention on the 

“owned, used, or retained by” aspect of the “public records” definition, however, it 

ignores the “prepared by” aspect.  (§ 6252, subd. (e).)  This approach fails to give 

“ „significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part‟ ” of the Act.  (Sierra 

Club v. Superior Court, supra, 57 Cal.4th at p. 166.) 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 20 of 105



 

9 

 The City draws its conclusion by comparing the Act‟s definitions of “local” 

and “state” agency.  Under CPRA, “ „Local agency‟ includes a county; city, 

whether general law or chartered; city and county; school district; municipal 

corporation; district; political subdivision; or any board, commission or agency 

thereof; other local public agency; or entities that are legislative bodies of a local 

agency pursuant to subdivisions (c) and (d) of Section 54952.”  (§ 6252, subd. (a), 

italics added.)  The City points out that this definition does not specifically include 

individual government officials or staff members, whereas individuals are 

specifically mentioned in CPRA‟s definition of “state agency.”  According to that 

definition, “ „State agency‟ means every state office, officer, department, division, 

bureau, board, and commission or other state body or agency, except those 

agencies provided for in Article IV (except Section 20 thereof) or Article VI of the 

California Constitution.”5  (§ 6252, subd. (f)(1), italics added.)  The City contends 

this difference shows the Legislature intended to exclude individuals from the 

local agency definition.  If a local agency does not encompass individual officers 

and employees, it argues, only writings accessible to the agency as a whole are 

public records.  This interpretation is flawed for a number of reasons. 

 The City‟s narrow reading of CPRA‟s local agency definition is 

inconsistent with the constitutional directive of broad interpretation.  (Cal. Const., 

art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2); see Sierra Club v. Superior Court, supra, 57 Cal.4th at 

p. 175.)  Broadly construed, the term “local agency” logically includes not just the 

discrete governmental entities listed in section 6252, subdivision (a) but also the 

individual officials and staff members who conduct the agencies‟ affairs.  It is well 

established that a governmental entity, like a corporation, can act only through its 

                                              
5  Article IV establishes the Legislature, and article VI establishes the state‟s 

judiciary.  (Cal. Const., arts. IV, VI.)  These branches of government are thus 

generally exempt from CPRA.  (See Sander v. State Bar of California, supra, 58 

Cal.4th at p. 318; Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior Court (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 106, 

111.) 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 21 of 105



 

10 

individual officers and employees.  (Suezaki v. Superior Court (1962) 58 Cal.2d 

166, 174; Alvarez v. Felker Mfg. Co. (1964) 230 Cal.App.2d 987, 998; see United 

States v. Dotterweich (1943) 320 U.S. 277, 281; Reno v. Baird (1998) 18 Cal.4th 

640, 656.)  A disembodied governmental agency cannot prepare, own, use, or 

retain any record.  Only the human beings who serve in agencies can do these 

things.   When employees are conducting agency business, they are working for 

the agency and on its behalf.  (See, e.g., Cal. Assn. of Health Facilities v. Dept. of 

Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 296-297; cf. Competitive Enterprise 

Institute v. Office of Science & Technology Policy (D.C. Cir. 2016) 827 F.3d 145, 

149 [reaching the same conclusion for federal FOIA requests].).  We presume the 

Legislature was aware of these settled principles.  (See People v. Superior Court 

(Zamudio) (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, 199.)  A writing prepared by a public employee 

conducting agency business has been “prepared by” the agency within the 

meaning of section 6252, subdivision (e), even if the writing is prepared using the 

employee‟s personal account. 

 The City also fails to explain how its proposed requirement that a public 

record be “accessible to the agency as a whole” could be practically interpreted.  

Even when documents were stored in filing cabinets or ledgers, many writings 

would not have been considered accessible to all agency employees, regardless of 

their level of responsibility or involvement in a particular project. 

 Moreover, although employees are not specifically mentioned in the local 

agency definition, nothing in the statutory language indicates the Legislature 

meant to exclude these individuals from CPRA obligations.  The City argues the 

omission of the word “officer” from the local agency definition reflects a 

legislative intent that CPRA apply to individuals who work in state agencies but 

not employees in local government.  The City offers no reason why the Legislature 

would draw such an arbitrary distinction.  If it intended to impose different 

disclosure obligations on state and local agencies, one would expect to find this 

difference highlighted throughout the statutory scheme, particularly when the 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 22 of 105



 

11 

obligations relate to a “fundamental and necessary right of every person in this 

state.”  (§ 6250.)  Yet there is no mention of such an intent anywhere in the Act.  

Indeed, under the City‟s logic, CPRA obligations would potentially extend only to 

state officers, not necessarily state employees.  The distinction between tenured 

public officers and those who hold public employment has long been recognized.  

(See In re M.M. (2012) 54 Cal.4th 530, 542-544.)  Considering CPRA‟s goal of 

promoting public access, it would have been odd for the Legislature to establish 

different rules for different levels of state employment.  Contrary to the City‟s 

view, it seems more plausible that the reference to “every state . . . officer” in the 

state agency definition (§ 6252, subd. (f)) was meant to extend CPRA obligations 

to elected state officers, such as the Governor, Treasurer, or Secretary of State, 

who are not part of a collective governmental body nor generally considered 

employees of a state agency.6 

 The City‟s position is further undermined by another CPRA provision, 

which indicates that public records can be held by individual officials and need not 

belong to an agency as a whole.  When it is alleged that public records have been 

improperly withheld, section 6259, subdivision (a) directs that “the court shall 

order the officer or person charged with withholding the records” to disclose the 

records or show cause why they should not be produced.  If the court concludes 

“the public official‟s decision to refuse disclosure is not justified,” it can order 

“the public official to make the record public.”  (§ 6259, subd. (b).)  If the court 

                                              
6  In one respect the local agency definition is worded more broadly than the 

state agency definition.  Section 6252, subdivision (a) states that the term local 

agency “includes” a county, city, or one of several other listed entities.  In 

statutory drafting, the term “includes” is ordinarily one “of enlargement rather 

than limitation.”  (Ornelas v. Randolph (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1095, 1101.)  “The 

„statutory definition of a thing as “including” certain things does not necessarily 

place thereon a meaning limited to the inclusions.‟ ”  (Flanagan v. Flanagan 

(2002) 27 Cal.4th 766, 774.)  By contrast, the definition of “state agency” is 

couched in more restrictive language:  “ „State agency‟ means every state office, 

officer . . .,” and other listed entities.  (§ 6252, subd. (f), italics added.) 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 23 of 105



 

12 

finds “that the public official was justified in refusing” disclosure, it must “return 

the item to the public official without disclosing its content.”  (Ibid.)  The 

Legislature‟s repeated use of the singular word “official” in section 6259 indicates 

an awareness that an individual may possess materials that qualify as public 

records.  Moreover, the broad term “public official” encompasses officials in state 

and local agencies, signifying that CPRA disclosure obligations apply to 

individuals working in both levels of government.  

 4. Owned, Used, or Retained by Any State or Local Agency 

 CPRA encompasses writings prepared by an agency but also writings it 

owns, uses, or retains, regardless of authorship.  Obviously, an agency engaged in 

the conduct of public business will use and retain a variety of writings related to 

that business, including those prepared by people outside the agency.  These final 

two factors of the “public records” definition, use and retention, thus reflect the 

variety of ways an agency can possess writings used to conduct public business. 

 As to retention, the City argues “public records” include only materials in 

an agency‟s possession or directly accessible to the agency.  Citing statutory 

arguments and cases limiting the duty to obtain and disclose documents possessed 

by others, the City contends writings held in an employee‟s personal account are 

beyond an agency‟s reach and fall outside CPRA.  The argument fails. 

 Appellate courts have generally concluded records related to public 

business are subject to disclosure if they are in an agency‟s actual or constructive 

possession.  (See, e.g., Board of Pilot Comrs. for the Bays of San Francisco, San 

Pablo and Suisun v. Superior Court (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 577, 598; 

Consolidated Irrigation Dist. v. Superior Court (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 697, 710 

(Consolidated Irrigation).)  “[A]n agency has constructive possession of records if 

it has the right to control the records, either directly or through another person.”  

(Consolidated Irrigation, at p. 710.)  For example, in Consolidated Irrigation, a 

city did not have constructive possession of documents in files maintained by 

subconsultants who prepared portions of an environmental impact report because 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 24 of 105



 

13 

the city had no contractual right to control the subconsultants or their files.  (Id. at 

pp. 703, 710-711.)  By contrast, a city had a CPRA duty to disclose a consultant‟s 

field survey records because the city had a contractual ownership interest and right 

to possess this material.  (See Community Youth Athletic Center v. City of National 

City (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 1385, 1426, 1428-1429 (Community Youth).) 

 An agency‟s actual or constructive possession of records is relevant in 

determining whether it has an obligation to search for, collect, and disclose the 

material requested.  (See § 6253, subd. (c).)  It is a separate and more fundamental 

question whether a document located outside an agency‟s walls, or servers, is 

sufficiently “owned, used, or retained” by the agency so as to constitute a public 

record.  (See § 6252, subd. (e).)  In construing FOIA, federal courts have remarked 

that an agency‟s public records “do not lose their agency character just because the 

official who possesses them takes them out the door.”  (Competitive Enterprise 

Institute v. Office of Science and Technology Policy, supra, 827 F.3d at p. 149.)  

We likewise hold that documents otherwise meeting CPRA‟s definition of “public 

records” do not lose this status because they are located in an employee‟s personal 

account.  A writing retained by a public employee conducting agency business has 

been “retained by” the agency within the meaning of section 6252, subdivision (e), 

even if the writing is retained in the employee‟s personal account. 

 The City argues various CPRA provisions run counter to this conclusion.  

First, the City cites section 6270, which provides that a state or local agency may 

not transfer a public record to a private entity in a manner that prevents the agency 

“from providing the record directly pursuant to this chapter.”  (Italics added.)  

Taking the italicized language out of context, the City argues that public records 

are only those an agency is able to access “directly.”  But this strained 

interpretation sets legislative intent on its head.  The statute‟s clear purpose is to 

prevent an agency from evading its disclosure duty by transferring custody of a 

record to a private holder and then arguing the record falls outside CPRA because 

it is no longer in the agency‟s possession.  Furthermore, section 6270 does not 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 25 of 105



 

14 

purport to excuse agencies from obtaining public records in the possession of their 

own employees.  It simply prohibits agencies from attempting to evade CPRA by 

transferring public records to an intermediary not bound by the Act‟s disclosure 

requirements. 

 Next, the City relies on section 6253.9, subdivision (a)(1), which states that 

an agency must make a public record available “in any electronic format in which 

it holds the information” (italics added), and on section 6253, subdivision (a), 

which requires that public records be available for inspection “during . . . office 

hours.”  These provisions do not assist the City.  They merely address the 

mechanics of how public records must be disclosed.  They do not purport to define 

or limit what constitutes a public record in the first place.  Moreover, to say that 

only public records “in the possession of the agency” (§ 6253, subd. (c)) must be 

disclosed begs the question of whether the term “agency” includes individual 

officers and employees.  We have concluded it does.
 

 Under the City‟s interpretation of CPRA, a document concerning official 

business is only a public record if it is located on a government agency‟s computer 

servers or in its offices.  Indirect access, through the agency‟s employees, is not 

sufficient in the City‟s view.  However, we have previously stressed that a 

document‟s status as public or confidential does not turn on the arbitrary 

circumstance of where the document is located. 

 In Commission on Peace Officer Standards, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pages 289 

to 290, a state agency argued certain employment information was exempt from 

disclosure under CPRA because it had been placed in confidential personnel files.  

In considering a Penal Code provision that deems peace officer personnel records 

confidential, we rejected an interpretation that made confidentiality turn on the 

type of file in which records are located, finding it “unlikely the Legislature 

intended to render documents confidential based on their location, rather than their 

content.”  (Commission, at p. 291.)  Although we made this observation in 

analyzing the scope of a CPRA exemption, the same logic applies to the Act‟s 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 26 of 105



 

15 

definition of what constitutes a public record in the first place.  We found it 

unlikely “the Legislature intended that a public agency be able to shield 

information from public disclosure simply by placing it in” a certain type of file.  

(Commission, at p. 291.)  Likewise, there is no indication the Legislature meant to 

allow public officials to shield communications about official business simply by 

directing them through personal accounts.  Such an expedient would gut the 

public‟s presumptive right of access (Sander v. State Bar of California, supra, 58 

Cal.4th at p. 323), and the constitutional imperative to broadly construe this right 

(Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2)). 

 In light of these principles, and considering section 6252, subdivision (e) in 

the context of the Act as a whole (see Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 

77, 83), we conclude a city employee‟s communications related to the conduct of 

public business do not cease to be public records just because they were sent or 

received using a personal account.  Sound public policy supports this result.  

B. Policy Considerations 

 Both sides cite policy considerations to support their interpretation of the 

“public records” definition.  The City argues the definition reflects a legislative 

balance between the public‟s right of access and individual employees‟ privacy 

rights, and should be interpreted categorically.  Smith counters that privacy 

concerns are properly addressed in the case-specific application of CPRA‟s 

exemptions, not in defining the overall scope of a public record.  Smith also 

contends any privacy intrusion resulting from a search for records in personal 

accounts can be minimized through procedural safeguards.  Smith has the better of 

these arguments. 

 The City‟s interpretation would allow evasion of CPRA simply by the use 

of a personal account.  We are aware of no California law requiring that public 

officials or employees use only government accounts to conduct public business.  

If communications sent through personal accounts were categorically excluded 

from CPRA, government officials could hide their most sensitive, and potentially 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 27 of 105



 

16 

damning, discussions in such accounts.  The City‟s interpretation “would not only 

put an increasing amount of information beyond the public‟s grasp but also 

encourage government officials to conduct the public‟s business in private.”  

(Senat, Whose Business Is It:  Is Public Business Conducted on Officials’ Personal 

Electronic Devices Subject to State Open Records Laws? (2014) 19 Comm. L. & 

Pol‟y 293, 322.) 

 It is no answer to say, as did the Court of Appeal, that we must presume 

public officials conduct official business in the public‟s best interest.  The 

Constitution neither creates nor requires such an optimistic presumption.  Indeed, 

the rationale behind the Act is that it is for the public to make that determination, 

based on information to which it is entitled under the law.  Open access to 

government records is essential to verify that government officials are acting 

responsibly and held accountable to the public they serve.  (CBS, Inc. v. Block 

(1986) 42 Cal.3d 646, 651.)  “Such access permits checks against the arbitrary 

exercise of official power and secrecy in the political process.”  (Ibid.)  The whole 

purpose of CPRA is to ensure transparency in government activities.  If public 

officials could evade the law simply by clicking into a different email account, or 

communicating through a personal device, sensitive information could routinely 

evade public scrutiny. 

 The City counters that the privacy interests of government employees 

weigh against interpreting “public records” to include material in personal 

accounts.  Of course, public employees do not forfeit all rights to privacy by 

working for the government.  (Long Beach City Employees Assn. v. City of Long 

Beach (1986) 41 Cal.3d 937, 951.)  Even so, the City essentially argues that the 

contents of personal email and other messaging accounts should be categorically 

excluded from public review because these materials have traditionally been 

considered private.  However, compliance with CPRA is not necessarily 

inconsistent with the privacy rights of public employees.  Any personal 

information not related to the conduct of public business, or material falling under 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 28 of 105



 

17 

a statutory exemption, can be redacted from public records that are produced or 

presented for review.  (See § 6253, subd. (a).) 

 Furthermore, a crabbed and categorical interpretation of the “public 

records” definition is unnecessary to protect employee privacy.  Privacy concerns 

can and should be addressed on a case-by-case basis.  (See International 

Federation, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 329.)  Beyond the definition of a public record, 

the Act itself limits or exempts disclosure of various kinds of information, 

including certain types of preliminary drafts, notes, or memoranda (§ 6254, 

subd. (a)), personal financial data (§ 6254, subd. (n)), personnel and medical files 

(§ 6254, subd. (c)), and material protected by evidentiary privileges (§ 6254, 

subd. (k)).  Finally, a catchall exemption allows agencies to withhold any record if 

the public interest served by withholding it “clearly outweighs” the public interest 

in disclosure.  (§ 6255, subd. (a).)  This exemption permits a balance between the 

public‟s interest in disclosure and the individual‟s privacy interest.  (International 

Federation, at pp. 329-330; BRV, Inc. v. Superior Court (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 

742, 755-756.)  The analysis here, as with other exemptions, appropriately focuses 

on the content of specific records rather than their location or medium of 

communication.  (See Commission on Peace Officer Standards, supra, 42 Cal.4th 

at p. 291.)7 

                                              
7  While admitting it invoked no CPRA exemptions in the proceedings below, 

the City nevertheless asks us to decide that messages in employees‟ personal 

accounts are universally exempt from disclosure under section 6255.  This issue 

has not been preserved and is beyond the scope of our grant of review.  It also 

appears impossible to decide on this record.  Answering threshold questions about 

whether employees have a reasonable expectation of privacy (see Hill v. National 

Collegiate Athletic Assn. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1, 35), or whether their messages are 

covered by the “deliberative process” privilege (Times Mirror Co. v. Superior 

Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1325, 1339-1344) would require a fact-intensive review of 

the City‟s policies and practices regarding electronic communications, if not the 

contents of the challenged documents themselves.  The record here is insufficient. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 29 of 105



 

18 

 The City also contends the search for public records in employees‟ 

accounts would itself raise privacy concerns.  In order to search for responsive 

documents, the City claims agencies would have to demand the surrender of 

employees‟ electronic devices and passwords to their personal accounts.  Such a 

search would be tantamount to invading employees‟ homes and rifling through 

their filing cabinets, the City argues.  It urges no case has extended CPRA so far. 

 Arguments that privacy interests outweigh the need for disclosure in CPRA 

cases have typically focused on the sensitive content of the documents involved, 

rather than the intrusiveness involved in searching for them.  (See, e.g., 

International Federation, supra, 42 Cal.4th 319; Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior 

Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1272.)  Assuming the search for responsive documents 

can also constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy, however, this concern 

alone does not tip the policy balance in the City‟s favor.  Searches can be 

conducted in a manner that respects individual privacy. 

 C. Guidance for Conducting Searches 

 The City has not attempted to search for documents located in personal 

accounts, so the legality of a specific kind of search is not before us.  However, the 

City and some amici curiae do highlight concerns about employee privacy.  Some 

guidance about how to strike the balance between privacy and disclosure may be 

of assistance. 

 CPRA requests invariably impose some burden on public agencies.  Unless 

a records request is overbroad or unduly burdensome, agencies are obliged to 

disclose all records they can locate “with reasonable effort.”  (California First 

Amendment Coalition v. Superior Court (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 159, 166.)  

Reasonable efforts do not require that agencies undertake extraordinarily extensive 

or intrusive searches, however.  (See American Civil Liberties Union Foundation 

v. Deukmejian (1982) 32 Cal.3d 440, 453; Bertoli v. City of Sebastopol (2015) 233 

Cal.App.4th 353, 371-372.)  In general, the scope of an agency‟s search for public 

records “need only be reasonably calculated to locate responsive documents.”  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 30 of 105



 

19 

(American Civil Liberties Union of Northern Cal. v. Superior Court (2011) 202 

Cal.App.4th 55, 85; see Community Youth, supra, 220 Cal.App.4th at p. 1420.) 

 CPRA does not prescribe specific methods of searching for those 

documents.  Agencies may develop their own internal policies for conducting 

searches.  Some general principles have emerged, however.  Once an agency 

receives a CPRA request, it must “communicate the scope of the information 

requested to the custodians of its records,” although it need not use the precise 

language of the request.  (Community Youth, supra, 220 Cal.App.4th at p. 1417.)  

As to requests seeking public records held in employees‟ nongovernmental 

accounts, an agency‟s first step should be to communicate the request to the 

employees in question.  The agency may then reasonably rely on these employees 

to search their own personal files, accounts, and devices for responsive material.  

 Federal courts applying FOIA have approved of individual employees 

conducting their own searches and segregating public records from personal 

records, so long as the employees have been properly trained in how to distinguish 

between the two.  (See Ethyl Corp. v. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (4th 

Cir. 1994) 25 F.3d 1241, 1247.)  A federal employee who withholds a document 

identified as potentially responsive may submit an affidavit providing the agency, 

and a reviewing court, “with a sufficient factual basis upon which to determine 

whether contested items were „agency records‟ or personal materials.”  (Grand 

Cent. Partnership, Inc. v. Cuomo (2d Cir. 1999) 166 F.3d 473, 481.)  The 

Washington Supreme Court recently adopted this procedure under its state public 

records law, holding that employees who withhold personal records from their 

employer “must submit an affidavit with facts sufficient to show the information is 

not a „public record‟ under the PRA.  So long as the affidavits give the requester 

and the trial court a sufficient factual basis to determine that withheld material is 

indeed nonresponsive, the agency has performed an adequate search under the 

PRA.”  (Nissen v. Pierce County (Wn. 2015) 183 Wn.2d 863 [357 P.3d 45, 57].)  

We agree with Washington‟s high court that this procedure, when followed in 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 31 of 105



 

20 

good faith, strikes an appropriate balance, allowing a public agency “to fulfill its 

responsibility to search for and disclose public records without unnecessarily 

treading on the constitutional rights of its employees.”  (Id., 357 P.3d at p. 58.) 

 Further, agencies can adopt policies that will reduce the likelihood of public 

records being held in employees‟ private accounts.  “Agencies are in the best 

position to implement policies that fulfill their obligations” under public records 

laws “yet also preserve the privacy rights of their employees.”  (Nissen v. Pierce 

County, supra, 357 P.3d at p. 58.)  For example, agencies might require that 

employees use or copy their government accounts for all communications 

touching on public business.  Federal agency employees must follow such 

procedures to ensure compliance with analogous FOIA requests.  (See 44 U.S.C. 

§ 2911(a) [prohibiting use of personal electronic accounts for official business 

unless messages are copied or forwarded to an official account]; 36 C.F.R. 

§ 1236.22(b) (2016) [requiring that agencies ensure official email messages in 

employees‟ personal accounts are preserved in the agency‟s recordkeeping 

system]; Landmark Legal Foundation v. Environmental Protection Agency 

(D.D.C. 2015) 82 F.Supp.3d 211, 225-226 [encouraging a policy that official 

emails be preserved in employees‟ personal accounts as well].) 

 We do not hold that any particular search method is required or necessarily 

adequate.  We mention these alternatives to offer guidance on remand and to 

explain why privacy concerns do not require categorical exclusion of documents 

in personal accounts from CPRA‟s “public records” definition.  If the City 

maintains the burden of obtaining records from personal accounts is too onerous, it 

will have an opportunity to so establish in future proceedings.  (See Connell v. 

Superior Court (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 601, 615-616; State Bd. of Equalization v. 

Superior Court (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1177, 1188.) 

D. Conclusion 

 Consistent with the Legislature‟s purpose in enacting CPRA, and our 

constitutional mandate to interpret the Act broadly in favor of public access (Cal. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 32 of 105



 

21 

Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2)), we hold that a city employee‟s writings about 

public business are not excluded from CPRA simply because they have been sent, 

received, or stored in a personal account.   

DISPOSITION 

 The judgment is reversed, and the case is remanded for further proceedings 

consistent with this opinion. 

 

       CORRIGAN, J. 

 

WE CONCUR: 

 

CANTIL-SAKAUYE, C. J. 

WERDEGAR, J. 

CHIN, J.   

LIU, J.   

CUÉLLAR, J. 

KRUGER, J.   

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 33 of 105



 

 

See last page for addresses and telephone numbers for counsel who argued in Supreme Court. 

 

Name of Opinion City of San Jose v. Superior Court 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Unpublished Opinion 

Original Appeal 

Original Proceeding 

Review Granted XXX 225 Cal.App.4th 75 

Rehearing Granted 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Opinion No. S218066 

Date Filed: March 2, 2017 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Court: Superior 

County: Santa Clara 

Judge: James P. Kleinberg 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Counsel: 

 

Richard Doyle, City Attorney, Nora Frimann, Assistant City Attorney, and Margo Laskowska, Deputy City 

Attorney, for Petitioners. 

 

Keith J. Bray, Joshua Rosen Daniels; Dannis Woliver Kelley, Sue Ann Salmon Evans and William B. 

Tunick for Education Legal Alliance of the California School Boards Association as Amicus Curiae on 

behalf of Petitioners. 

 

Jennifer B. Henning for California State Association of Counties as Amicus Curiae on behalf of Petitioners. 

 

Best, Best & Krieger, Shawn D. Hagerty and Hong Dao Nguyen for League of California Cities, California 

Association of Sanitation Agencies and California Special Districts Association Amici Curiae on behalf of 

Petitioners. 

 

No appearance for Respondent. 

 

McManis Faulkner, James McManis, Matthew Schechter, Christine Peek, Tyler Atkinson and Jennifer 

Murakami for Real Party in Interest. 

 

Mastagni Holstedt, David E. Mastagni, Isaac S. Stevens and Jeffrey R.A. Edwards for Sacramento Police 

Officers‟ Association, Stockton Police Officers‟ Association, Sacramento County Deputy Sheriffs‟ 

Association, Sacramento County Law Enforcement Managers Association, San Bernardino County Public 

Attorneys Association, Deputy Sheriffs‟ Association of Alameda County, Statewide University Police 

Association, Sacramento Area Firefighters, International Association of Firefighters, Local 552, AFL-CIO, 

Palo Alto Firefighters, International Association of Firefighters, Local 1319, AFL-CIO, San Mateo County 

Deputy Sheriffs‟ Association, Rialto Professional Firefighters, International Association of Firefighters, 

Local 3688, AFL-CIO, Vallejo Police Officers‟ Association, Elk Grove Police Officers Association, 

Ontario Police Officers‟ Association, Placer County Deputy Sheriffs‟ Association, Federated University 

Police Officers‟ Association and Los Angeles Airport Peace Officers‟ Association as Amici Curiae on 

behalf of Real Party in Interest. 

 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 34 of 105



 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 – S208181 – counsel continued 

 

Counsel: 

 

Jack Cohen as Amicus Curiae on behalf of Real Party in Interest. 

 

Ram, Olson, Cereghino & Kopczynski, Karl Olson; Juan F. Cornejo; Jeffrey D Glasser; and James W. 

Ewert for California Newspaper Publishers Association, Los Angeles Times Communications LLC, 

McClatchy Newspapers, Inc., Hearst Corporation, First Amendment Coalition, Society of Professional 

Journalists, Californians Aware and the Reporters Committee for Freedom of the Press as Amici Curiae on 

behalf of Real Party in Interest. 

 

Michael T. Risher, Matthew T. Cagle, Christopher J. Conley; Peter Bibring, Peter Eliasberg; David Loy; 

and Jennifer Lynch for American Civil Liberties Union Foundation of Northern California, Inc., American 

Civil Liberties Union of Southern California, Inc., American Civil Liberties Union of San Diego & 

Imperial County, Inc., and Electronic Frontier Foundation as Amici Curiae on behalf of Real Party in 

Interest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 35 of 105



 

 

 

 

 

 

Counsel who argued in Supreme Court (not intended for publication with opinion): 

 

Nora Frimann 

Assistant City Attorney 

200 East Santa Clara Street, 16th Floor 

San Jose, CA  95113-1905 

(408) 535-1900 

 

James McManis 

McManis Faulkner 

50 West San Fernando Street, 10th Floor 

San Jose, CA  95113 

(408) 279-8700 

 

Karl Olson 

Ram, Olson, Cereghino & Kopczynski 

555 Montgomery Street, Suite 820 

San Francisco, CA  94111 

(415) 433-4949 

 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 36 of 105



 

Discussion Items 

 
Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 37 of 105



 

Director Memorandum 17-020 

Date: February 21, 2017 

Prepared By: Vicky Elisalda, Controller 
Peggy Little, Administrative Supervisor 

Subject: Presentation of the Unaudited Financial Report for the Period Ending on 
January 31, 2017 

Recommendation: That the Board receives and files the unaudited financial report. 

 
The following unaudited financial report has been prepared by the Administrative Department for 
your review. The report has been divided into six sections to clearly disseminate information 
pertaining to the financial status of the District.  Please remember that the following financial 
information has not been audited. 
 

Cash Fund Balance Report 
[Detailed information can be found on page 5 to 6 of 28] 

 
The Cash Fund Balance Report provides a summary of how the total amount of funds maintained 
by financial institutions is distributed throughout the enterprise and non-enterprise funds of the 
District.  A summary of the report is as follows: 
 

Fund Source

Operating 

Funds

Restricted 

Funds

Total 

Funds

Water Division $9,434,069.13 $777,501.15 $10,211,570.28

Sewer Division $11,830,363.02 ($6,738,763.61) $5,091,599.41

Recycled Water Division $1,642,207.20 $571,614.07 $2,213,821.27

Total $22,906,639.35 ($5,389,648.39) $17,516,990.96  
 
Most of the funds reflected in the Cash Fund Balance Report are designated for specific purposes 
and are therefore restricted, either by law or by District policy.   
 

Check Register  
[Detailed information can be found on pages 7 to 10 of 28] 

 
The check register lists each check processed during the month of January 2017.  The District 
processed 215 checks during the month of January for a total sum of $1,610,960.65.  All checks 
are reviewed by District staff for accuracy and completeness, and usually signed by the General 
Manager and one Director, but may be signed by two Directors. 
 
The Controller will make any check, invoice or supporting documentation available for review to 
any board member upon request.   
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 38 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 2 of 28 

 

 
Financial Account Information 

[Detailed information can be found on pages 11 to 14 of 28] 
 

The District currently deposits all revenue received into the Deposit Checking account.  The 
General Checking account is used as a sole processing account for all District checks and 
electronic payroll.  The Investment Checking account is used for the purchase and redemption of 
US treasury notes and bills and for the transfer of LAIF funds.  The US treasury notes and bills 
are booked at cost. 
 
The LAIF investment account is a pooled money account administered by the State of California.  
Additional information on the LAIF account is provided below in the investment summary report. 
 

Investment Summary  
[Detailed information can be found on pages 15 to 16 of 28] 

 
The investment summary report illustrates the District's investments in US treasury notes and bills 
in addition to the investments held by the Local Agency Investment Fund or LAIF.  The yields for 
the treasury notes and bills are provided for each individual transaction.  The historical annual 
yield for funds invested with LAIF is also provided. 
 
Separate pooled money investment reports prepared by the State of California are maintained by 
the District and available for review. 
 

Monthly Revenue Allocation 
[Detailed information can be found on pages 17 to 18 of 28] 

 
During the month of January 2017 the District’s deposit checking account received a sum total of 
$2,339,629.22 in revenues from the following categories: 

• A total of $1,723,223.51 was received from 15,885 customers for utility bill payments.  This is 
the total amount of utility bill payments received from water, sewer and recycled services. 

• A total of $2,238.75 was received for construction meter deposits, customer deposits and 
internet fee payments. 

• A total of $405,969.26 was received from miscellaneous water related activities (other than 
utility bill charges).       

• A total of $164,420.00 was received from miscellaneous sewer related activities (other than 
utility bill charges).     

• A total of $43.777.70 was received from miscellaneous recycled related activities (other than 
utility bill charges). 

• The District’s general checking account (pages 11-14 of 28) received four ACH deposits for 
San Bernardino Property Taxes in the amount of $150,619.  The District has received 
$1,728,704 (58%) of the allocated $2,988,634 property taxes for FY 2017.    
    

 
Fiscal Year 2017 Budget Status 

[Detailed information can be found on pages 19 to 28 of 28] 
 
The revenue and expense budget status for the 2017 Fiscal Year is provided for your review.  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 39 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 3 of 28 

 

Division Budget Amount Current Month Year-To-Date Percentage

Water 13,781,800 912,700 7,118,142 51.65%

Sewer 12,202,227 958,688 6,299,756 51.63%

Recycled Water 657,100 13,525 347,163 52.83%

District Revenue 26,641,127 1,884,913 13,765,061 51.67%

Department Budget Amount Current Month Year-To-Date Percentage

Water Resources 5,005,900 242,917 2,742,699 54.79%

Public works 2,569,500 142,272 1,367,436 53.22%

Administration 3,910,735 290,214 2,178,846 55.71%

Long Term Debt 2,295,665 0 1,670,556 72.77%

Asset Acquisition   0 0 16,455 0.00%

TOTAL 13,781,800 675,403 7,975,992 57.87%

Department Budget Amount Current Month Year-To-Date Percentage

Treatment 3,838,400 180,512 1,899,070 49.48%

Administration 3,298,095 239,519 1,854,067 56.22%

Environmental Control 1,234,000 62,022 587,385 47.60%

Long Term Debt 3,831,732 649,274 3,572,942 93.25%

Asset Acquisition 0 0 0 0.00%

TOTAL 12,202,227 1,131,327 7,913,464 64.85%

Department Budget Amount Current Month Year-To-Date Percentage

Administration 657,100 41,507 505,799 76.97%

TOTAL 657,100 41,507 505,799 76.97%

District Expenses 26,641,127 1,848,237 16,395,255 61.54%

Summary of Recycled Water Budget Expenses

As of January 31, 2017 (54% of Budget Cycle)

Summary of Revenue Budget

As of January 31, 2017 (54% of Budget Cycle)

Summary of Water Budget Expenses

As of January 31, 2017 (54% of Budget Cycle)

Summary of Sewer Budget Expenses

As of January 31, 2017 (54% of Budget Cycle)

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 40 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 4 of 28 

 

Investment Policy Disclosure 
 
The District is currently compliant with the portfolio of its Investment Policy and State Law. 
 
The District is using Sandy Gage with Merrill Lynch Wealth Management (Bank of America 
Corporation) for Treasury investments.  The District expects to meet its expenditure requirements 
for the next six months. 
 
 

Questions or Comments 
 
If you have any questions about a particular budget account, please do not hesitate to contact the 
Controller directly.  If you need additional information, the members of the Administrative 
Department would be happy to provide you with any detailed information you may desire. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 41 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 5 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 42 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 6 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 43 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 7 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 44 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 8 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 45 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 9 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 46 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 10 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 47 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 11 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 48 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 12 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 49 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 13 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 50 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 14 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 51 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 15 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 52 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 16 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 53 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 17 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 54 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 18 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 55 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 19 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 56 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 20 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 57 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 21 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 58 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 22 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 59 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 23 of 28 

 

  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 60 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 24 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 61 of 105



Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 62 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 26 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 63 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 27 of 28 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 64 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-020 Page 28 of 28 

 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 65 of 105



 

Director Memorandum 17-021 

Date: March 7, 2017 

Prepared By: Joseph Zoba, General Manager 

Subject: Consideration to Purchase Additional Imported Water from the San 
Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District for Calendar Year 2017 

Recommendation: That the Board authorizes the purchase of an additional 1,000 acre feet 
of imported water for use at the Yucaipa Valley Regional Water Filtration 
Facility plus 6,000 acre feet of imported water for recharge at the Wilson 
Creek Spreading Basins for a sum not to exceed $836,200. 

 
On July 20, 2016, the Board of Directors authorized the purchase of 6,000 acre feet of imported 
water from the San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District for a total cost of $754,800 [Director 
Memorandum No. 16-071].  This water will be delivered to the Yucaipa Valley Regional Water 
Filtration Facility throughout the year to produce drinking water for our community.  Additionally, 
the Yucaipa Valley Water District will be processing an additional 1,000 acre feet of drinking water 
for Western Heights Mutual Water Company. 
 
On February 22, 2017, the District staff received information from the San Bernardino Valley 
Municipal Water District that additional imported water would be available this year due to the wet 
winter conditions and snowpack in northern California (attached).  The District staff has reviewed 
our operational plan for this year and recommends the purchase of an additional 1,000 acre feet 
of imported water for use at the Yucaipa Valley Regional Water Filtration Facility plus 6,000 acre 
feet of imported water for recharge at the Wilson Creek Spreading Basins for a total of 7,000 acre 
feet of additional water supplies.  The total cost of this purchase in the amount of $836,200 will 
be funded by GL 02-10313. 
 

Imported Water 
Classification 

Unit Cost of  
Imported Water * 

Quantity of Additional 
Imported Water 

Requested by YVWD 
Cost 

Direct Delivery $125.80/acre foot 1,000 acre feet $125,800 
Seasonal Storage $118.40/acre foot 6,000 acre feet $710,400 

* San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District Resolution No. 888 Total Cost $836,200 
 

If the Board of Directors approve this additional purchase of imported water, the Yucaipa Valley 
Water District will import a total of 13,000 acre feet of water this year to offset future groundwater 
production.  For comparative purposes, the purchase of imported water this year will be equivalent 
to 2.8 years of groundwater production based on the 4,600 acre feet of groundwater extracted by 
Yucaipa Valley Water District in 2016. 
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 66 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-021  Page 2 of 3 

 

5
2

5

6
2

5

2
,4

0
0

2
,6

0
0

3
,0

5
6

6
,0

0
0

1
5

,0
0

0

1
5

,0
0

0

2
0

0

1
,0

0
0

7
,0

0
0

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000
A

cr
e 

Fe
et

2017 San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District - Imported Water Orders

Original Order

Partners

Additional Order

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 67 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-021  Page 3 of 3 

 
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 68 of 105



 

Director Memorandum 17-022 

Date: March 7, 2017 

Prepared By: Matthew Porras, Management Analyst 
Kathryn Hallberg, Management Analyst 
Joseph Zoba, General Manager 

Subject: Consideration of Resolution No. 2017-08 Establishing the Use of Fire 
Hydrants for Temporary Construction, Agricultural, and Residential Water 
Use 

Recommendation: That the Board adopts Resolution No. 2017-08. 

 
On October 4, 2016, the District staff received a request from Mr. Al Ineichen requesting a waiver 
in monthly fees and construction meter deposit for his water hauled to 36610 Singleton Road, 
Calimesa.  Since the District staff does not have the authority to waive the monthly construction 
meter fees or the deposit for the construction meter, the item was scheduled for a discussion at 
the board workshop on October 25, 2016 [Workshop Memorandum No. 16-161].   
 
On October 25, 2016, the board members, District staff, and Mr. Ineichen discussed the practice 
of hauling drinking water from the District’s drinking water system to property owned by Mr. 
Ineichen.   
 
On December 14`, 2016 District staff met with Mr. Al Ineichen at his property to discuss the issues 
and resolutions that could be presented to the Board for consideration.  At this meeting, Mr. 
Ineichen stated that he does not haul potable water, he only hauls non-potable water for irrigation 
purposes.  Mr. Al Ineichen questioned the purpose of the construction meter deposit of $1,500, 
considering the meter is placed and locked on a District hydrant and maintained by the District 
staff.   
 
On January 10, 2017, and January 31, 2017, the board members, District staff, and Mr. Ineichen 
discussed the policy regarding construction meter costs, depreciation, installation cost, facility 
capacity charges, and water usage of current construction meter customers.  Based on these 
discussions, the District staff prepared the attached resolution for review and consideration. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 69 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-022  Page 2 of 5 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 70 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-022  Page 3 of 5 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 71 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-022  Page 4 of 5 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 72 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-022  Page 5 of 5 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 73 of 105



 

Director Memorandum 17-023 

Date: March 7, 2017 

Prepared By: Matthew Porras, Management Analyst 

Subject: Consideration of Adopting a Cellular Device Usage Program 

Recommendation: That the Board authorizes the General Manager to implement the 
Cellular Device Usage Program for District employees when data 
collection and communication programs are implemented.  

 
The District staff is beginning to utilize smart phones for the collection of system data.  It would 
be helpful to implement a cellular device program that would apply to District employees who are 
not assigned a District owned device.   
 
The proposed program has been drafted to provide a reimbursement to employees for the use of 
their cellular device to offset the purchase and monthly cellular expense.  
 
 
 
  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 74 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-023  Page 2 of 2 

CELLULAR DEVICE USAGE PROGRAM 
 
This document establishes the Yucaipa Valley Water District’s (“District”) program for use 
of a mobile cellular device by an employee to perform District related tasks.  For the 
purposes of this program, the term “cellular device” is defined as any handheld electronic 
device with the ability to send, receive, or transmit voice, text, or data messages without 
a cable connection.   
 

I. Use of District Owned Cellular Devices.  Cellular devices provided by the District 
for work related use.  The cellular device provided from the District is to be 
protected by the employee and returned when employment ends.  This policy does 
not apply to District Owned Cellular Devices. 

 
II. Use of Personally Owned Cellular Devices.  Cellular devices owned and 

maintained by an employee and used during work hours for District communication 
and District data collection.   

 
III. Reimbursement of Cellular Device Expenses.  Eligibility for reimbursement will 

require that the employee receives annual approval by the General Manager for 
the use of a Personally Owned Cellular Device for District purposes.  The following 
requirements must be satisfied to be eligible for this reimbursement: 

• The device is required to perform District and work related tasks. 

• The tasks are completed using the device within a reasonable timeframe. 

• The device is used as a point of contact for the employee. 

• The device and service plan are compatible with the required tasks. 

• The device and service plan are maintained and managed by the employee. 

• District utilized applications are installed and updated on the device as 
required to provide the full functionality of communication and data 
collection. 

• The District is notified within 24 hours of a lost or stolen cellular device. 

• An executed reimbursement policy will be required to be authorized by the 
General Manager and updated in January of each calendar year.  

• The District reserves the right to modify, adjust, update, expand, or 
terminate this policy and the reimbursement at any time without notice. 

 
IV. Financial Reimbursement 

• A reimbursement in the amount of $40 per month will be provided to an 
eligible employee at the first payroll cycle of each month. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 75 of 105



 

Director Memorandum 17-024 

Date: March 7, 2017 

Prepared By: Joseph Zoba, General Manager 

Subject: Discussion Regarding the Water Rights, Water Supply, and Facility Capacity 
Fee Collection Agreement between the City of Calimesa, San Gorgonio Pass 
Water Agency and Yucaipa Valley Water District 

Recommendation: Pending  

 
On July 27, 2015, the Board of Directors of the San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency adopted 
Resolution No. 2015-05 adopting facility capacity fees for new infrastructure and additional water 
resources (see page 4 of 20).  The adoption of this resolution was deemed necessary due to 
“…meet future increasing demands for SGPWA supplemental water to the SGPWA service area 
which will require additional water facilities to be constructed to distribute water and to acquire 
additional water rights to meet future increasing demands.” 
 
At the regular meeting of the City of Calimesa on May 2, 2016, the Calimesa council members 
reviewed a Cooperative Agreement for the Collection of Facility Capacity Fees by and Between 
San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency and [City] (see page 7 of 20).  Following a discussion about 
the draft cooperative agreement with the San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency, the Calimesa council 
members voted to "defer action and direct staff to continue working with all parties regarding a 
regional resolution on water supply". 
 
In summer 2016, a new effort was put forth to draft an agreement that expressly achieved the 
goals of municipal agencies represented by:  

• Bonnie Johnson, City Manager, City of Calimesa;  

• Jeff Davis, General Manager, San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency; and  

• Joseph Zoba, General Manager, Yucaipa Valley Water District. 
 
After several months of discussions and negotiations, the group of managers developed the latest 
version of the Water Rights, Water Supply, and Facility Capacity Fee Collection Agreement (see 
page 14 of 20).  This agreement sets forth the process, conditions, and requirements needed to 
ensure development fees paid to the San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency result in water rights 
dedicated to Yucaipa Valley Water District prior to the City of Calimesa issues building permits.   

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 76 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 2 of 20 

 
On Wednesday, February 8, 2017, the District received the following email message regarding 
the status of the Cooperative Agreement from the San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency. 
 

 
 
Since the San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency has the ability to develop a contract the City of 
Calimesa, the Yucaipa Valley Water District, or both, it appears that the San Gorgonio Pass Water 
Agency Board of Directors will be considering all available alternatives.  While it is good to 
evaluate all available options, it is important to understand that the agreement prepared by the 
San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency and presented to the City of Calimesa in May 2016 does not 
secure, assign, or dedicate water rights to Yucaipa Valley Water District for new development to 

San Gorgonio 
Pass Water Agency

•Receipt of Capacity Fees from property 
owners for new development

Yucaipa Valley Water District

•Purchase of permanent secured water 
rights  dedicated by SGPWA to YVWD 
for new development

City of Calimesa

•Issuance of building permits based on 
secured and dedicated water supply to 
YVWD for new development

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 77 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 3 of 20 

proceed in Calimesa.  Therefore, if this is the desired pathway by the San Gorgonio Pass Water 
Agency, it would effectively stifle new development in Calimesa. 
 
The San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency is scheduled to discuss both agreements at their meeting 
scheduled for March 6, 2017.  The purpose of this agenda item is to provide an update on the 
discussion at the San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency, provide direction to District staff and review 
the latest version of the Water Rights, Water Supply, and Facility Capacity Fee Collection 
Agreement (see page 14 of 20). 
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 78 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 4 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 79 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 5 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 80 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 6 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 81 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 7 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 82 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 8 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 83 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 9 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 84 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 10 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 85 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 11 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 86 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 12 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 87 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 13 of 20 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 88 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 14 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 89 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 15 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 90 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 16 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 91 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 17 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 92 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 18 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 93 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 19 of 20 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 94 of 105



Director Memorandum No. 17-024  Page 20 of 20 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 95 of 105



 

 

Board Reports 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 96 of 105



 

 

Director Comments 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 97 of 105



January 2016 
 

 
 

FACTS ABOUT THE YUCAIPA VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 
 

Service Area Size: 40 square miles (sphere of influence is 68 square miles) 
 

Elevation Change: 3,140 foot elevation change (from 2,044 to 5,184 feet) 
 

Number of Employees: 5 elected board members 
62 full time employees 

 

Operating Budget: Water Division - $13,397,500 
 Sewer Division - $11,820,000 
 Recycled Water Division - $537,250 
 Total Annual Budget - $25,754,750 
 

Number of Services: 12,434 water connections serving 17,179 units 
13,559 sewer connections serving 20,519 units 
64 recycled water connections 

 

Water System: 215 miles of drinking water pipelines 
27 reservoirs - 34 million gallons of storage capacity 
18 pressure zones 
12,000 ac-ft annual water demand (3.9 billion gallons) 
Two water filtration facilities: 

- 1 mgd at Oak Glen Surface Water Filtration Facility 
- 12 mgd at Yucaipa Valley Regional Water Filtration Facility 

 

Sewer System: 8.0 million gallon treatment capacity - current flow at 4.0 mgd 
205 miles of sewer mainlines 
5 sewer lift stations 
4,500 ac-ft annual recycled water prod. (1.46 billion gallons) 

 

Recycled Water: 22 miles of recycled water pipelines 
5 reservoirs - 12 million gallons of storage 
1,200 ac-ft annual recycled demand (0.4 billion gallons) 

 

Brine Disposal:  2.2 million gallon desalination facility at sewer treatment plant 
1.108 million gallons of Inland Empire Brine Line capacity 

 0.295 million gallons of treatment capacity in Orange County  
  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 98 of 105



January 2016 
 

State Water Contractors: San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District 
 San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency 
 

 
 

Sustainability Plan: A Strategic Plan for a Sustainable Future: The Integration and 
Preservation of Resources, adopted on August 20, 2008. 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 99 of 105



January 2016 
 

 
  

THE MEASUREMENT OF WATER PURITY 
 

One part per hundred is generally represented by the percent (%).  
This is equivalent to about fifteen minutes out of one day. 

 
One part per thousand denotes one part per 1000 parts.  

This is equivalent to about one and a half minutes out of one day. 
 
One part per million (ppm) denotes one part per 1,000,000 parts.  

This is equivalent to about 32 seconds out of a year. 
 
One part per billion (ppb) denotes one part per 1,000,000,000 parts.   

This is equivalent to about three seconds out of a century. 
 
One part per trillion (ppt) denotes one part per 1,000,000,000,000 parts. 

This is equivalent to about three seconds out of every hundred thousand years. 
 
One part per quadrillion (ppq) denotes one part per 1,000,000,000,000,000 parts.  

This is equivalent to about two and a half minutes out of the age of the Earth (4.5 
billion years).  

 

 
  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 100 of 105



January 2016 
 

 
  

GLOSSARY OF COMMONLY USED TERMS 
 
Every profession has specialized terms which generally evolve to facilitate communication between individuals.  
The routine use of these terms tends to exclude those who are unfamiliar with the particular specialized language 
of the group.  Sometimes jargon can create communication cause difficulties where professionals in related fields 
use different terms for the same phenomena. 

Below are commonly used water terms and abbreviations with commonly used definitions.  If there is any 
discrepancy in definitions, the District's Regulations Governing Water Service is the final and binding definition.  

 

Acre Foot of Water - The volume of water (325,850 gallons, or 43,560 cubic feet) that would cover an area of 
one acre to a depth of 1 foot.  

Activated Sludge Process – A secondary biological sewer treatment process where bacteria reproduce at a 
high rate with the introduction of excess air or oxygen, and consume dissolved nutrients in the wastewater. 

Annual Water Quality Report - The document is prepared annually and provides information on water quality, 
constituents in the water, compliance with drinking water standards and educational material on tap water.  It is 
also referred to as a Consumer Confidence Report (CCR).  

Aquifer - The natural underground area with layers of porous, water-bearing materials (sand, gravel) capable of 
yielding a supply of water; see Groundwater basin.  

Backflow - The reversal of water's normal direction of flow.  When water passes through a water meter into a 
home or business it should not reverse flow back into the water mainline.  

Best Management Practices (BMPs) - Methods or techniques found to be the most effective and practical 
means in achieving an objective.  Often used in the context of water conservation.  

Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) – The amount of oxygen used when organic matter undergoes 
decomposition by microorganisms.  Testing for BOD is done to assess the amount of organic matter in water. 

Biosolids – Biosolids are nutrient rich organic and highly treated solid materials produced by the sewer treatment 
process.  This high-quality product can be used as a soil amendment on farm land or further processed as an 
earth-like product for commercial and home gardens to improve and maintain fertile soil and stimulate plant 
growth. 

Catch Basin – A chamber usually built at the curb line of a street, which conveys surface water for discharge 
into a storm sewer. 

Capital Improvement Program (CIP) – Projects for repair, rehabilitation, and replacement of assets.  Also 
includes treatment improvements, additional capacity, and projects for the support facilities. 

Collector Sewer – The first element of a wastewater collection system used to collect and carry wastewater 
from one or more building sewer laterals to a main sewer. 

Coliform Bacteria – A group of bacteria found in the intestines of humans and other animals, but also 
occasionally found elsewhere and is generally used as an indicator of sewage pollution.   

Combined Sewer Overflow – The portion of flow from a combined sewer system, which discharges into a water 
body from an outfall located upstream of a wastewater treatment plant, usually during wet weather conditions. 

Combined Sewer System– Generally older sewer systems designed to convey both sewage and storm water 
into one pipe to a wastewater treatment plant. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 101 of 105



January 2016 
 

Conjunctive Use - The coordinated management of surface water and groundwater supplies to maximize the 
yield of the overall water resource.  Active conjunctive use uses artificial recharge, where surface water is 
intentionally percolated or injected into aquifers for later use.  Passive conjunctive use is to simply rely on surface 
water in wet years and use groundwater in dry years. 

Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) - see Annual Water Quality Report.  

Cross-Connection - The actual or potential connection between a potable water supply and a non-potable 
source, where it is possible for a contaminant to enter the drinking water supply. 

Disinfection By-Products (DBPs) - The category of compounds formed when disinfectants in water systems 
react with natural organic matter present in the source water supplies.  Different disinfectants produce different 
types or amounts of disinfection byproducts. Disinfection byproducts for which regulations have been established 
have been identified in drinking water, including trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids, bromate, and chlorite 

Drought - a period of below average rainfall causing water supply shortages.  

Dry Weather Flow – Flow in a sanitary sewer during periods of dry weather in which the sanitary sewer is under 
minimum influence of inflow and infiltration. 

Fire Flow - The ability to have a sufficient quantity of water available to the distribution system to be delivered 
through fire hydrants or private fire sprinkler systems.  

Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) - A measurement of the average number of gallons of water use by the 
number of people served each day in a water system. The calculation is made by dividing the total gallons of 
water used each day by the total number of people using the water system.  

Groundwater Basin - An underground body of water or aquifer defined by physical boundaries.  

Groundwater Recharge - The process of placing water in an aquifer.  Can be a naturally occurring process or 
artificially enhanced.  

Hard Water - Water having a high concentration of minerals, typically calcium and magnesium ions.  

Hydrologic Cycle - The process of evaporation of water into the air and its return to earth in the form of 
precipitation (rain or snow).  This process also includes transpiration from plants, percolation into the ground, 
groundwater movement, and runoff into rivers, streams and the ocean; see Water cycle.  

Infiltration – Water other than sewage that enters a sewer system and/or building laterals from the ground 
through defective pipes, pipe joints, connections, or manholes.  Infiltration does not include inflow.  See Inflow. 

Inflow - Water other than sewage that enters a sewer system and building sewer from sources such as roof 
vents, yard drains, area drains, foundation drains, drains from springs and swampy areas, manhole covers, cross 
connections between storm drains and sanitary sewers, catch basins, cooling towers, storm waters, surface 
runoff, street wash waters, or drainage.  Inflow does not include infiltration.  See Infiltration. 

Inflow / Infiltration (I/I) – The total quantity of water from both inflow and infiltration. 

Mains, Distribution - A network of pipelines that delivers water (drinking water or recycled water) from 
transmission mains to residential and commercial properties, usually pipe diameters of 4" to 16".  

Mains, Transmission - A system of pipelines that deliver water (drinking water or recycled water) from a source 
of supply the distribution mains, usually pipe diameters of greater than 16".  

Meter - A device capable of measuring, in either gallons or cubic feet, a quantity of water delivered by the District 
to a service connection.  

Overdraft - The pumping of water from a groundwater basin or aquifer in excess of the supply flowing into the 
basin. This pumping results in a depletion of the groundwater in the basin which has a net effect of lowering the 
levels of water in the aquifer.  

Peak Flow – The maximum flow that occurs over a specific length of time (e.g., daily, hourly, instantaneously). 

Pipeline - Connected piping that carries water, oil or other liquids.  See Mains, Distribution and Mains, 
Transmission. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 102 of 105



January 2016 
 

Point of Responsibility, Metered Service - The connection point at the outlet side of a water meter where a 
landowner's responsibility for all conditions, maintenance, repairs, use and replacement of water service facilities 
begins, and the District's responsibility ends.  

Potable Water - Water that is used for human consumption and regulated by the California Department of Public 
Health.  

Pressure Reducing Valve - A device used to reduce the pressure in a domestic water system when the water 
pressure exceeds desirable levels.  

Pump Station - A drinking water or recycled water facility where pumps are used to push water up to a higher 
elevation or different location.  

Reservoir - A water storage facility where water is stored to be used at a later time for peak demands or 
emergencies such as fire suppression.  Drinking water and recycled water systems will typically use concrete or 
steel reservoirs.  The State Water Project system considers lakes, such as Shasta Lake and Folsom Lake to be 
water storage reservoirs. 

Runoff - Water that travels downward over the earth's surface due to the force of gravity.  It includes water 
running in streams as well as over land.  

Sanitary Sewer System - Sewer collection system designed to carry sewage, consisting of domestic, 
commercial, and industrial wastewater. This type of system is not designed nor intended to carry water from 
rainfall, snowmelt, or groundwater sources.  See Combined Sewer System. 

Sanitary Sewer Overflow – Overflow from a sanitary sewer system caused when total wastewater flow exceeds 
the capacity of the system.  See Combined Sewer Overflow. 

Santa Ana River Interceptor (SARI) Line – A regional brine line designed to convey 30 million gallons per day 
of non-reclaimable wastewater from the upper Santa Ana River basin to the sewer treatment plant operated by 
Orange County Sanitation District. 

Secondary Treatment – Biological sewer treatment, particularly the activated-sludge process, where bacteria 
and other microorganisms consume dissolved nutrients in wastewater. 

Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) - A computerized system which provides the ability to 
remotely monitor and control water system facilities such as reservoirs, pumps and other elements of water 
delivery.  

Service Connection - The water piping system connecting a customer's system with a District water main 
beginning at the outlet side of the point of responsibility, including all plumbing and equipment located on a parcel 
required for the District's provision of water service to that parcel.  

Sludge – Untreated solid material created by the treatment of sewage. 

Smart Irrigation Controller - A device that automatically adjusts the time and frequency which water is applied 
to landscaping based on real-time weather such as rainfall, wind, temperature and humidity.  

Special District - A political subdivision of a state established to provide a public services, such as water supply 
or sanitation, within a specific geographic area.   

Surface Water - Water found in lakes, streams, rivers, oceans or reservoirs behind dams.  

Total Suspended Solids (TSS) – The amount of solids floating and in suspension in water or sewage. 

Transpiration - The process by which water vapor is released into the atmosphere by living plants.  

Trickling Filter – A biological secondary treatment process in which bacteria and other microorganisms, growing 
as slime on the surface of rocks or plastic media, consume nutrients in primary treated sewage as it trickles over 
them. 

Underground Service Alert (USA) - A free service that notifies utilities such as water, telephone, cable and 
sewer companies of pending excavations within the area (dial 8-1-1 at least 2 working days before you dig).  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 103 of 105



January 2016 
 

Urban Runoff - Water from city streets and domestic properties that typically carries pollutants into the storm 
drains, rivers, lakes, and oceans. 

Valve - A device that regulates, directs or controls the flow of water by opening, closing or partially obstructing 
various passageways.  

Wastewater – Any water that enters the sanitary sewer. 

Water Banking - The practice of actively storing or exchanging in-lieu surface water supplies in available 
groundwater basin storage space for later extraction and use by the storing party or for sale or exchange to a 
third party.  Water may be banked as an independent operation or as part of a conjunctive use program.  

Water cycle - The continuous movement water from the earth's surface to the atmosphere and back again; see 
Hydrologic cycle.  

Water Pressure - Pressure created by the weight and elevation of water and/or generated by pumps that deliver 
water to the tap.  

Water Service Line - The pipeline that delivers potable water to a residence or business from the District's water 
system.  Typically the water service line is a 1” to 1½” diameter pipe for residential properties.  

Watershed - A region or land area that contributes to the drainage or catchment area above a specific point on 
a stream or river.  

Water Table - The upper surface of the zone of saturation of groundwater in an unconfined aquifer.  

Water Transfer - A transaction, in which a holder of a water right or entitlement voluntarily sells/exchanges to a 
willing buyer the right to use all or a portion of the water under that water right or entitlement.  

Water Well - A hole drilled into the ground to tap an underground water aquifer.  

Wetlands - Lands which are fully saturated or under water at least part of the year, like seasonal vernal pools 
or swamps.  

Wet Weather Flow – Dry weather flow combined with stormwater introduced into a combined sewer system, 
and dry weather flow combined with infiltration/inflow into a separate sewer system. 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 104 of 105



January 2016 
 

 
  

COMMONLY USED ABBREVIATIONS 
 

AQMD Air Quality Management District 

BOD Biochemical Oxygen Demand 

CARB California Air Resources Board 

CCTV Closed Circuit Television 

CWA Clean Water Act 

EIR Environmental Impact Report 

EPA U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

FOG Fats, Oils, and Grease 

GPD Gallons per day 

MGD Million gallons per day 

O & M Operations and Maintenance 

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration  

POTW Publicly Owned Treatment Works 

PPM Parts per million 

RWQCB Regional Water Quality Control Board  

SARI Santa Ana River Inceptor 

SAWPA Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority 

SBVMWD San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District 

SCADA Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition system 

SSMP Sanitary Sewer Management Plan 

SSO Sanitary Sewer Overflow 

SWRCB State Water Resources Control Board  

TDS Total Dissolved Solids 

TMDL Total Maximum Daily Load 

TSS Total Suspended Solids 

WDR Waste Discharge Requirements 

YVWD Yucaipa Valley Water District 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 7, 2017 - Page 105 of 105




